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Job # 30796 
Chairman Klein: Opened the hearing on SB 2137. All members were present.  
 
Senator Laron, District 3: Testified in support of the bill. I bring this bill to you today because 
there are some folks who have had the idea of starting an entrepreneurial business, a cigar bar 
in our town. A history of the bill: it did go through South Dakota’s legislature, and it was 
passed. Now I’ve been to a few of these cigar bar places throughout the country, where it’s 
kind of an entity where you can purchase these cigars and then I you want you can go into 
another VIP room where if you want you can stay and smoke. Some have ventilation, some 
are like my welding shop back at circle sanitation so it’s a little interesting there. But the 
legislation does speak about having a good ventilation system there. And I’m not sure if that 
was South Dakota language or not. I’m not a cigar connoisseur by any means so the 
legislation from South Dakota talked about a ring size, 40 ring size and such. So somebody 
contacted me to change that to a 30 ring size. There was some discussion about that and then 
there was another individual who said to use the federal language about tobacco being 
wrapped in tobacco weighing three pounds per thousand or more. So I do have that hand out 
so you can see what those look like. (See Attachment #1). So those were the correspondence 
to me and here’s the other two little pieces. (See Attachment #2). And I do have some other 
people folks with me that really do know the ins and outs of the business and I think it’s time ya 
know after all that legislation that you can’t smoke inside a bar. And it is some restricted 
language because 10% of the income has to be from cigars so you can’t, it’s pretty specific on 
doing this.  

 
Chairman Klein: When you spoke about ring size is that like circumference? Or should I wait 
for the experts to answer that.  
 
Senator Larson: I think you probably better wait on that because I’m not sure at all.  
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Chairman Klein: When you spoke to the amount of money that’s generated... Okay so not just 
anybody can open up a cigar bar. You’ve got to have cigars to sell.  
 
Senator Larson: Right so what I was thinking of is that we do have a humidor and a cigar 
selection at one of our golf courses. So I’m thinking okay now they’re going to start smoking 
cigars inside the bar there. But they can’t do that because they have to sell 10% of their, whatever 
comes through that door. 10% of that has to be cigars. And that’s gonna be a lot of cigars. And 
I don’t see with the golf, and the greens fees, and their dinners, and everything that they do 
there, that they will ever make 10% cigar sales.  
 
Chairman Klein: So the idea here being very site specific, because the entrepreneur, that would 
be his business that he has to generate at least 10% have to be from cigar sales or he cannot 
do what you’re proposing.  
 
Senator Larson: That’s correct.  
 
Senator Roers: What would preclude somebody from having a business within a business? So 
let’s say the golf course you just mentioned let’s say they had cocktails within it? 
 
Senator Larson: If anything maybe people could bring their own drinks but the cigar lounge 
would not be able to sell liquor I do not believe.  
 
Job # 30781 
 
Collin Nelson, Executive Tobacco LLC: See Attachment #3 for testimony in support of the bill.  
 
Job # 30820 
 
Testimony from Collin Nelson continues.   
 
(3:08)Chairman Klein: So what I’m hearing here is that you want to establish this smoking 
lounge where by upscale tobacco products will be sold, 10% of what you sell will have to be 
tobacco and then you’re gonna step off into this lounge area where people will enjoy the cigar?  
 
Collin: Correct. Or pipe or hookah. But not cigarettes.  
 
Chairman Klein: Okay, so you can’t smoke cigarettes in this lounge? 
 
Collin: No, in the past in smoking lounges that have been around, in North Dakota or other 
states, they don’t allow cigarette smoking in the cigar lounge. Because honestly, cigar smokers 
find cigarette smokers to be just as obnoxious as most people find cigar smokers. 
 
Chairman Klein: But following the argument maybe would be that are we on a slippery slope to 
opening the door to the next sort of smoking lounge that wouldn’t be a cigar lounge but… I don’t 
know. I’m just kind of thinking what I may here as the morning goes on.  
 
Collin: In the original wording that we have proposed to Senator Larson, it did have some 
language I there that established that the tobacco smoked on the premises must be purchased 
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from that premises. And most cigar shops, not all, but most, they don’t specialize in selling 
cigarettes. It’s not profitable for most cigar shops. I do understand that there’s a cigar shop here 
in town that makes most of their profit off of selling cigarettes, but that not always the case.   
 
Chairman Klein: And then the ring size, for the benefit of the committee do you want to tell us 
what that ring size is? 
 
Collin: In my opinion, the ring size shouldn’t be an issue at all, it should be the definition of what 
a cigar actually is. And a cigar is a natural leaf rolled inside another natural leaf with zero 
additives put in it. It’s not ground up, it’s not processed. Its hand rolled with tobacco inside, 
wrapped in a tobacco leaf.  
 
Chairman Klein: As opposed to cigarettes which have some additives? Being provided, hate to 
go there but, cigars are natural?  
 
Collin: Correct.  
 
Senator Burckhard: So let’s assume for this question that recreational marijuana had passed 
in November, would a cigar bar also accommodate the smoking of marijuana? 
 
Collin: Um no. In my understanding that would require a special license. My intentions are to 
open a cigar shop in town if this passes. I have no interest in pursuing a permit for the sale or 
consumption of marijuana on said property.  
 
Chairman Klein: I think the consumption of marijuana in the law is pretty specific as to where 
you can smoke it and I don’t know if you’re ever gonna be able to get it in an organized store.  
 
Senator Kreun: Senator Larson alluded to this as an entrepreneur business being brought 
forward so in that respect, what is the price range of some of these products and what is the 
annual sales in the US and the potential sales in North Dakota to try to offset some of these 
prices. What would offset these costs? 
 
Collin: I can tell you as far as the cost of cigars varies from $2, $3 for a cigar all the way up to 
$1000 a stick. For the most part the average cigar smoker would smoke cigars roughly from the 
$6-$15 range. And ya know, going back to the verbiage of a cigar being a hobby not a habit.  
 
Senator Kreun: In the 10% area what else would you be selling in your establishment to offset 
some of those sales, because if you’re selling average $6-$15 cigars that’s a lot of cigars to open 
up a building and make payments on it.  
 
Collin: Typically, tobacconists sell pipes, hookahs, humidors, all the paraphilia required to keep 
these products fresh, which would be all sorts of humidification equipment, fluid for the 
humidification equipment, lighters, cutters 
 
Chairman Klein: But there’s no alcohol license associated with this? 
 
Collin: No, not at all.   
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Senator Kreun: What about sandwiches, food that other thing? Nonalcoholic beverages? 
 
Collin: Pretty much every cigar store I’ve ever been in has a cooler that sells sodas, which I 
would also more than likely sell on my premises. In the past, for certain members that purchase 
a membership, are allowed to have a locker and bring in their own drinks. What happens from 
this point would depend on how the wording of the law ends up with the wording.  
 
Chairman Klein: Okay, because there will probably be with this bill, there would be a bull’s eye 
on your business to keep certainly people looking in and seeing how you’re operating.  
 
Senator Roers: Senator Burckhard asked would marijuana be sold, premium tobacco, and 
would marijuana fall under that? 
 
Collin: Marijuana is not tobacco. Let me back up here. The cigarette industry uses a process in 
which they grind up the tobacco leaves, and they usually use the least desirable parts of the 
tobacco leaf. They use different strains of tobacco that aren’t typically used in the tobacco or 
pipe industry. They create a paper out of the tobacco, they grind it up and then they pack their 
cigarettes with it. And that’s not premium tobacco. They put all sorts of additives in that so called 
tobacco, that allows it to burn slower or faster or to burn more evenly. Who know what else those 
chemicals do. I’m led to believe that their meant to make nicotine more addictive.   
 
Senator Roers: What is a hookah? 
 
Collin: Its Turkish in origin, or at least Middle eastern in origin. It’s a water pipe, its a group thing, 
it uses sheesh, which is a flavored tobacco product. I don’t know a lot about sheesh products.  
 
Chairman Klein: When we talked about nicotine and addiction issues when it comes to smoking 
cigarettes. But there’s still nicotine in a cigar, is there not?  
 
Collin: Oh, absolutely.  
 
Chairman Klein: I guess I don’t know really know a whole lot of cigar addicts as opposed to 
cigarettes.  
 
Collin: I didn’t come with all kinds of facts in regards to what the FDA has to say about it. We 
could sit and argue numbers and figures and people are still gonna disagree on it.  
 
Chairman Klein: And people are asking questions. I’ve been here twelve years and this is my 
first cigar bar discussion. But its certainly interesting to see what entrepreneurial folks are out 
there trying to create a different sort of business.  
 
(14:58)Shaun Sipma, citizen of Minot: See attachment #4 for testimony in support of the bill.  
 
(20:31)Jerrod McClellan: Testified in support of the bill. I am a licensed tobacco retailer in North 
Dakota, I sell currently as a sole proprietorship, and on behalf of this bill, every single one of my 
customers, and I’m not joking when I say this, has asked, where can I sit down and smoke a 
cigar? And I have to tell them, I don’t know. In your garage or on your back porch maybe? In the 
incident that this bill was passed, it would allow the opportunity for the people that do choose to 
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smoke premium tobacco, the opportunity to sit down and enjoy premium tobacco themselves. 
On behalf of the question to what a hookah is, a hookah is a social gathering smoking device. It 
is premium tobacco mixed with flavoring. No additives aside from the flavoring. A little bit of 
glycerin to mix with the water so that you get the effect of the smoke but that is it. Other than 
that, there are no additives that you would find in gas station cigarettes.  
 
Senator Piepkorn: Isn’t there a little bit of a difference between your hookah-smoking crowd 
and your cigar smoking crowd? I imagine this group to be a cigar smoking crowd, for instance.  
 
Jerrod: I’m actually more of a cigar smoking crowd myself. But I have many friends who enjoy 
smoking hookah shisha. It’s a social gathering that they can sit down and enjoy after a long hard 
day at work, while they are playing games. And just sit down wherever they are, smoking and 
enjoying. The other benefit of the hookah is there is no waft of cigars or pipe tobacco. And that’s 
the other benefit of that. It leaves a sweet aroma and that’s it.   
 
Chairman Klein: So there’s no smoke? 
 
Jerrod: There isn’t. because the tobacco is watered down to the point where the tobacco is .005 
or less.  
 
Senator Burckhard: Tell us your last name again and how you spell it? 
 
Jerrod: McClellan 
 
(25:18)Neil Charvat, Director of the Tobacco Prevention and Control Program for the 
North Dakota Department of Health: See attachment #5 for testimony in opposition to the bill.  
 
(30:11)Chairman Klein: You spoke somewhat broadly about secondhand smoke, and I’m just 
picking up on what I’ve heard from the other presenters, that other states, who I believe were in 
the no smoking business before us, have changed or narrowly defined what a cigar  lounge 
could be. And obviously they are operating, do you have any research, we all know about the 
over health and death risks. And we all know, I mean my kids all knew about it by the time they 
were in school but, you’re broad brushing this here and I’d like more specifics here if we could 
change the language, because you seem to concern yourself with people vaping and smoking 
in the cigar lounge. If that was more restrictive or but anyway I’m just looking for a narrower sort 
of concern rather than the broad brush approach.  
 
Neil: Regardless of if you can put in definitions, the fact that there is hookah involved, that’s not 
a clean chemical experience. They’re burning using charcoal, they put the shisha and then they 
put the charcoal on top of that and then light it, it’s not like its smokeless burning.  
 
Chairman Klein: But you have to get folks together to do this so it’s not like you’re forcing them 
to be there? 
 
Neil: Correct, but there is second hand smoke relating to cigars as well, and it might be a different 
secondhand smoke than cigarettes but its still secondhand smoke and it still poses a danger. 
There are some other states that allow it but it’s not because someone like me supports it with 
scientific research. It was mainly someone in the industry coming in and changing it.   
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(32:57)Deb Knuth, North Dakota American Cancer Society Cancer Action Network: See 
attachment #6 for testimony in opposition to the bill.  
 
Senator Kreun: In the fourth paragraph, cigars also produce secondhand smoke that is 
dangerous for nonsmokers. Within the cancer research, has there been a study to show the 
difference between cigar and cigarette smoke? 
 
Deb: I do have some factsheets regarding cigar smoke and I will get that to the committee. I 
know that we are against any kind of combustible tobacco because we have found that it is the 
cause of lung cancer and that’s the leading cause of cancer in the United States so that’s why 
we’re so affably against it.  
 
Senator Kreun: The reason I ask is because we are separating the two supposedly, so I would 
be interested in the research that shows what the cigars are compared to the cigarettes.  
 
Chairman Klein: There was a lot of discussion last session with the advent of medical marijuana 
and should that be inhaled or used in a combustible form. And of course there was a lot of 
struggle to craft a law that would allow some folks under the request of the doctors to use 
combustibles. Are they not also inhaling something that would be dangerous to their lungs, or is 
it because they’re using something that’s recommended by their physician to us this? Just 
wondering what your position is on that? 
 
Deb: ACS is opposed to ANY combustible and that includes marijuana.  
 
(39:03)Heather Austin, Tobacco Free North Dakota: see attachment #7 for testimony in 
opposition to the bill.  
 
(41:00)Senator Burckhard: With electronic product use at epidemic levels, talk about that? 
 
Heather: The FDA released a position stating that they believed that there is an epidemic with 
our youth using vaping, Juuling, electronic products. Use rate has skyrocketed year over year 
data is showing an increase of 78% with our young people using these electronic products.  
Without a clear definition of what exactly premium tobacco is, there could be all kind of 
exceptions and doors opened for not only cigars, pipes, hookahs, possibly electronics but again, 
it renormalized things for our youth that we really want to prevent them from doing. That nicotine 
is so addictive especially in young brains. Brains aren’t finished developing until age 25. We 
really want to prevent out kids from developing that lifelong addiction to nicotine and nicotine is 
found in cigars. We don’t want to open the door to eroding our smoke free laws in North Dakota.    
 
Vice Chairman Vedaa: Not necessarily relating but just information about Tobacco Free North 
Dakota, did they take a stance on the recreational marijuana?  
 
Heather: No, we did not take a stance. Our mission statement is around tobacco only, so we 
were not able to jump in the debate.  
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Chairman Klein: To Deb’s comment, this issue with the study in England, that the 14 year olds 
who are doing weed are already at that age have affected their ability to learn and it carries with 
them until the end.   
 
Heather: Nicotine affects the prefrontal cortex in a similar fashion that’s the decision making part 
of our brain and in young brains its especially harmful because it effects it so much more directly 
than a fully developed brain and so, affecting that developing part can impact learning abilities 
as well and nicotine is a chemical known to do that.  
 
Chairman Klein: We’re never gonna get to the point where we don’t have tobacco anymore. It’s 
just not gonna happen. Everybody is making an effort to understand and acknowledge that there 
are issues that surround tobacco use, and we’ve seen the use of tobacco go down considerably. 
But you’re going to reach a point where you reach the end. We can create a lot of laws and we 
have, but there’s other people who don’t support that or those ideas, so it’s very difficult. But we 
certainly enjoy the tobacco tax as it helps our general fund but nevertheless we see the problems 
that may or may not be associated with it. There’s never been legislation to totally ban it. In 1997, 
we had a bill that would ban tobacco but didn’t pass obviously.  
 
Heather: If you’re asking if Tobacco Free North Dakota would introduce legislation that would 
do that, we wouldn’t at this time. We know that there is a lot of work to still be done in tobacco 
prevention and control policy and we would love to see our rates go all the way down to zero. 
And part of that is protecting the wonderful policy you all have already put in place like our indoor 
smoke free air law, it’s one of the best in the nation. Let’s preserve it and protect it and then we 
can look at other policies that can help get our numbers down even lower.  
 
(46:59)Valerie Schoepf, President, Bismarck Tobacco Free Coalition: see attachment #8 for 
testimony in opposition to the bill.  
 
(50:12)Chairman Klein: There’s gonna be a bill somewhere along the way for that also, we 
understand the concerns you have and the concerns independent business has, and the people 
in between. But sometimes it’s not that easy.  
 
Valerie: I agree, and I understand that and it’s all spinning around for me here today. But at the 
end of the day second hand smoke exposure, which our voters overwhelmingly approved 
protecting workers. You know how people come into the jobs that they always come in to. 
Cleaning up establishments that are lounges or bars, I don’t know those backstories but to say 
it’s always a choice seems short-sighted as well.   
 
Chairman Klein: Well if you recall back in the 90s when we had all these issues, Jerry Klein 
was usually in opposition because he never smoked but the will of individuals, and that’s 
something, I don’t want to take everyone’s individual freedom away but also balance that with 
blowing smoke on your neighbor who doesn’t want it, that was the fine line. But you override the 
business issues and we tried to work it out and I think we’re okay but I’m just throwing that out 
because I think there’s gonna be a little bit of discussion on this one.  
 
(52:19)Kira Lampton, Minot citizen: See attachment #9 for testimony in opposition to the bill.  
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(56:53)Mary Korsmo, Executive Director of the North Dakota State Association of City and 
County Health Officials (SACCHO): see attachment #10 for testimony in opposition to the bill.  
 
Chairman Klein: Once again, I’m looking at the 34% that didn’t vote for it, the 34% are probably 
still smoking somewhere. The 34% now that would only be allowed to enter this shop/bar/room, 
that would have to be of age. I understand we’re trying to keep a smoke free environment and 
good for all North Dakotans. But there are some North Dakota who would get together and hang 
out and support each other in a cigar setting. I know Deb said its addictive as anything but I see 
more of the, I was in the grocery business forever and you see the addiction that goes along 
with that. But as people moved away from tobacco, they always looked for something else to do 
but eventually got totally away from tobacco. But cigars are sometimes the crutch in the middle. 
I’m not speaking for that 34% that didn’t vote for it but there probably, if there’s any way to allow 
them to have some rights as North Dakotans.  
 
Mary: I appreciate that and I respect what you’re saying as well, but we need to support our 
mission which is the only safe way is no way, in public at least.  
 
Chairman Klein: I’d rather they smoked in the cigar lounge than in their homes or garages with 
kids and grandkids. They can go hang out with guys, get them out of the house. And their wife 
would appreciate that to. I just know speaking from experience.  
 
Chairman Klein: Closed the hearing on SB 2137. 
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Explanation or reason for introduction of bill/resolution: 

 
Relating to cigar bars. 
 

Minutes:                                                 Att. #1 

Chairman Klein: Opened the committee work session on SB 2137. All members were 
present.  
 
Chairman Klein: As you’ll recall, senator Larson had these amendments prepared (see 
attachment #1). We had some discussion last week, and I’m just throwing this out for 
discussion. There was some question over changing the word from cigar bars to cigar 
lounges because there is no alcohol here and the word bar would suggest drinking. So I 
believe Senator Larson took that out of there. There was a question on page 2 line 11, 
where the word premium, and there was a question over what that word meant? And any 
premium product is removed. And thing cigar thing I think is removed again. And then on 
page 2 line 18, replace number 40 ring size or larger with contains only tobacco binder and 
no additives. And then lastly after line 18 insert cigar lounge means a business dedicated, 
in whole or in part, to the smoking of cigars which generates thirty percent or more of the 
business’s annual gross income from the sale of cigars. I know that Senator Larson has 
been in conversation with the tax department because they were wondering, they don’t 
have any problems they just want to be sure they understand what their role is. Because I 
believe it says somewhere that they are the ones that determine they have 30% of their 
annual sales, and you do have to report your sales through the tax department.  
 
Senator Roers: Wasn’t the original 10%? 
 
Chairman Klein: I thought so. I thought 10% was in here somewhere but I don’t remember 
seeing it.  
 
Senator Piepkorn: Yeah I thought so.  
 
Vice Chairman Vedaa: I thought Oley told me 10%.  
 
Senator Burckhard: 10% or more of the sales must be cigar related.  
Chairman Klein: Where did you get that?  
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Senator Burckhard: Some notes I took.  
 
Senator Roers: Yeah, it’s right here on this… is this an amendment? 
 
Chairman Klein: That was an amendment that did not get added.  

 
Senator Piepkorn: Curious, how big is a 40 ring size? 
 
Vice Chairman Vedaa: Well I think like Swisher Sweets and stuff, don’t they fit that? 
 
Senator Roers: That’s kind what I thought.  
 
Senator Piepkorn: So it’s not going to make any difference delivering this, I’m just curious. 
 
Chairman Klein: I have conflict here cause the folks of Altrea added me a definition of 
tobacco they feel needs to be in there to be uniform and this is not that language.  
 
Senator Roers: From who? 
 
Chairman Klein: The Marlboro lady. Used to be Phillip Morris. Okay committee, we are going 
to adjourn and I am going to further visit with Senator Larson. I hate to sort of prolong this 
sort of agony but we will and I will check with the sponsor of the bill and he’ll have to check 
with those folks because they felt it was legally necessary that that definition be very clear 
as to what tobacco really means or measures.  
 
Senator Piepkorn: Just one little remark, it’s not that important. But just the cigar lounge 
versus the cigar bar, even though it’s more fun to say cigar bar. It’s more of a marketing 
change than anything. The cigar bar change to a cigar lounge is more of an image thing.  
 
Vice Chairman Vedaa: Well there won’t be alcohol there so.  
 
Senator Piepkorn: Well I know but a lot of people refer to a bar as a lounge maybe more in 
the older days. Although it is a little fancier than a bar.  
 
Vice Chairman Vedaa: You can’t smoke in a bar though.  
 
Chairman Klein: Alright well we will adjourn and we’ll see you, uh, later.  
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Explanation or reason for introduction of bill/resolution: 

 
Relating to cigar bars. 
 

Minutes:                                                 Att. #1  

 
Chairman Klein: Opened the committee work session on SB 2137.  
 
Chairman Klein: Explains changes to the amendments. See attachment #1 for the proposed 
amendment.  

 
Committee discussed proposed amendments to the bill. The committee determined that they 

still needed clarification on certain points of the amendments and were going to wait to make a 
motion until Senator Larson could explain the changes made to the amendment.  

 
Chairman Klein: closed the committee work session.  
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Explanation or reason for introduction of bill/resolution: 

 
Relating to cigar bars.  
 

Minutes:                                                 Att. #1-4 

 
Chairman Klein: Opened the committee work session on SB 2137. All members were 
present.  
 
Senator Larson, District 3: testified in support of the bill. Walked through the amendments. 
See attachment #1 for additional testimony.  
 
Chairman Klein: passed out a Christmas tree version of the amendments that Senator 
Larson was going through. See attachment #2 for amendments.  
 
(6:51)Vice Chairman Vedaa: the bar part, will that be all cigar smoke or does it have to have 
a second spot? Or is this gonna be considered a bar with cigar? And that’s it? 
 
Senator Larson: What I’ve understood, is that if you want to smoke a cigarette in there you 
end up paying $15 per cigarette to smoke a cigarette in their lounge or bar. So my 
understanding is they will not be selling cigarettes in these places.  
 
Vice Chairman Vedaa: So that bar that will be a cigar bar will be all smoke then? There will 
be no smoke free areas? The entire place will be cigar and bar?  
 
Senator Larson: I don’t know that. As far as I know, they are normally sectioned off.  
 
(11:31)Chairman Klein: The early discussion mentioned premium?  
 
Senator Larson: Yes, that’s mentioned here. (referring to amendment) 
 
(13:45)Chairman Klein: are there questions specific to the amendments? 
 
Vice Chairman Vedaa: Should there be something in this bill that mandates a warning on 
the outside that says there’s smoking inside?  
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Senator Larson: Of all the places that I’ve been, I haven’t seen any warnings.  
 
Chairman Klein: So you’re approaching this facility that says Oley’s Cigar Lounge, so we 
would know that it’s a cigar lounge so that’s the warning right there? 
 
Senator Larson: Yes, I think so.  
 
Chairman Klein: But you have to generate 30% of your sales selling cigars for you to be 
able to call yourself that.  
 
Senator Larson: Yes, for a cigar bar but for a cigar lounge it’s different.  
 
Brett Mecum, IPCPR: testified in support of the bill. I have passed on to your stations two 
fliers about the IPCPR and also walks through what we see as premium cigars. The second 
is from two studies one that was from the FDA and the national institute of health and why 
it’s not a problem for underage smoking (see attachment #3). Questions on smoking or non-
smoking, most cigar bars its pure smoking. Also on cigarettes, I would recommend the 
committee, if there was a concern about cigarettes we have regulations in other states that 
prohibit cigarettes from being smoked in cigar lounges, to keep it completely cigar oriented. 
The other issue of things such as age, what I’d like to say is these establishments tend to be 
primarily mom and pop owned places that have quite a bit of knowledge about the products. 
These are people that love the product, love the industry. There are many people that enjoy 
premium aged wines and cigars are the same way, they’ve been aged a certain way. From 
an age perspective they also card vigorously and religiously. They are really small 
businesses when it comes down to it. We urge a do pass.  
 
(18:59)Chairman Klein: You’ve been in both cigar lounges and bars? How would that 
experience work?  
 
Brett: Yes, I believe we have two retailers in North Dakota that are members of our 
association. The difference is, basically a cigar bar has a bar and serves alcohol but usually 
a humidor, so they allow you to select a premium cigar and smoke a premium cigar on 
premise at the bar.  A lounge, tends to be merely the definition of lounge, it’s an area where 
you can go and smoke, you’ve got a room you have the ability to rent, lockers to keep your 
cigars in. It has chairs, tvs, entertainment systems, so you have a location to go in and sit 
down and enjoy your cigars. Certain folks who enjoy premium cigars may not be able to 
smoke at home, really what cigar bars do is provide an area where folks who do enjoy a cigar 
can get together with their friends and have discussions. They’re both areas for socialization 
and for like-minded people to enjoy a product together.  
 
Senator Burckhard: So are these places well ventilated? 
 
Brett: Every state has different regulations, a lot of them have what are called reverse 
pressure ventilation system which take the cigar air inside and suck it out through the roof. 
So as Senator Larson pointed out, a lot of the places he has been while you do not smell 
smoke you do smell tobacco, because you have the humidor and the areas in the back that 
are open, but as far as smoke, unless someone is smoking right next to you, you can’t really 
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smell the smoke. Another thing as technology gets better, we’ll keep developing ways to 
avoid having big smoke filled rooms.  
 
Chairman Klein: The expectation to go to these cigar bar/lounges, its not that I’m going to 
go meet friends and have a visit, so that clientele is fairly narrowly defined, and those same 
requirements as a percentage of sales required in other states? 
 
Brett: The 10% is pretty standard for cigar bars across the way because they also have the 
threshold of having to sell alcohol and also have their alcohol licensing. Another point is, the 
lounge percentage of 30% might be a little bit low, similar states have anywhere from 50-
75% of their sales need to be in cigars. In Wisconsin I had to push back on legislation that 
mandated the sales be 90% of their sales, we felt that was way too high. We are comfortable 
with 30%. But it’s at the body’s discretion.  
 
Chairman Klein: Other state have similar smoking laws as North Dakota, we prohibit 
smoking in any buildings. Would we be able to work with that? 

 
Brett: Each state has their own rules they operate by; I will use the example of Wisconsin. 
There are cigar lounges and cigar bars, that are grandfathered in. they had to have existed 
before the legislation was enacted. Arizona is a lot more loose, really just depends on the 
state. I did bring some cigars for the committee to see.  
 
Chairman Klein: We’ll do that after we adjourn. We’re preparing to kick this thing loose. How 
do you feel about the wording? 
 
Senator Larson: Yes, that’s fine. If it’s a simple change to remove the word glue, that’s fine 
I feel comfortable with that.   
 
Chairman Klein: I don’t think changing that one word will make a difference so we will not 
entertain anymore amendments. We will recess for now but we’ll bring this back this 
afternoon.  
 
Vice Chairman Vedaa: Should I get glue put on it? 
 
Chairman Klein: If you would like to.  
 
Chairman Klein: Closed the hearing on SB 2137.  
 
See attachment #3-4 for additional testimony submitted to the committee.  
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Explanation or reason for introduction of bill/resolution: 

 
Relating to cigar bar.  
 

Minutes: 

 
Chairman Klein: Opened the committee work session on SB 2137. All members were 
present.  
 
Vice Chairman Vedaa: Moved to adopt amendment.  
 
Senator Burckhard: Seconded.  
 
Chairman Klein: I’m not seeing the word glue in here. It might be the case that it was added 
to the proposed amendment but was never actually in the bill, but regardless let the record 
show, we wish to proceed with the amendment without the word glue.  
 
A Roll Call Vote Was Taken: 6 yeas, 0 nays, 0 absent.  
 
Motion Carried.  
 
Vice Chairman Vedaa: Move a do pass as amended.  
 
Senator Roers: Seconded.  
 
Chairman Klein: any discussion? Of all the important things we’ve worked on the last few 
week, we have spent some time on this one.  
 
Senator Piepkorn: I just think the idea flies in the face of our healthy living movement in 
North Dakota, it appears to be a step backwards. Even if you have to be an adult to step into 
the bar or lounge. That is a moot point as far as I’m concerned. It still is fostering that image, 
even for younger people who go by and see a place that looks interesting. It makes it more 
acceptable. As an adult who does occasionally smoke a cigar, and this is purely personal, 
but I don’t mind that it’s difficult to find a place to smoke a cigar in the winter. I do know on 
person in North Dakota who has designed his own place, so he has a smoking room. It’s very 
well ventilated so I get there once a year to smoke a cigar. So you know otherwise we can 
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smoke them outside the rest of the year. I just think it goes against the grain. And in my 
district, people aren’t for this. There are a lot of young people there and young families and 
they see this as a step backwards for all the progress we’ve been making over the past few 
years.  
 
Chairman Klein: And I can understand that. We’ve made a step back on the medical 
marijuana issue and we allowed inhalation. That was a step back so we’re trying to do the 
best we can do with the rules that have been given to us.  
 
Senator Kreun: As we look at page 3, starting around line 6 or 7 or 8, through line 14 and 
then it goes back down to defining what a lounge is and what a bar is. In my opinion they’re 
two completely different entities. The lounge is as you would basically have a humidor, pick 
what you like and then go into a lounge area for smoking and basically you could have snacks 
and small items for sale and I don’t have too much problem with that. But I do have a problem 
with the bar scenario that basically is an alcohol establishment or a cigar bar with the ability 
to be attracted to no different to what we had in the past. In my past life I was on the city 
council in Grand Forks for twelve years, and we passed a city ordinance for no smoking in 
bars prior to it was in the state of North Dakota and I feel if I permit both of these to go forward 
it’s not representing my district. The average age in my district is 21.9 years old. And so in 
promoting this activity in a bar scenario, I cannot support this bill.  
 
A Roll Call Vote Was Taken: 3 yeas, 3 nays, 0 absent.  
 
Motion failed.  
 
Senator Kreun: moved a do not pass as amended.  
 
Senator Piepkorn: Seconded.  
 
A Roll Call Vote Was Taken: 3 yeas, 3 nays, 0 absent.   
 
Motion failed.  
 
Senator Kreun: moved without committee recommendation as amended.  
 
Senator Roers: Seconded.  
 
A Roll Call Vote Was Taken: 6 yeas, 0 nays, 0 absent.   
 
Motion Carried.  
 
Vice Chairman Vedaa will carry the bill.  
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☐ Subcommittee 

☐ Conference Committee 

 

      Committee Clerk: Amy Crane 

 

Explanation or reason for introduction of bill/resolution: 

 
Relating to cigar bars.  
 
Minutes: 

 
It has come to the attention of the committee that a bill similar to this was last voted on in 
2012, which means that in order for this bill to pass it would need a 2/3 vote from the full 
body. Upon hearing this, members of the committee who had previously voted in favor of this 
bill proposed that they may change their votes on the Senate floor.  
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